IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF MARYLAND

COUNCIL OF PARENT ATTORNEYS AND ADVOCATES, INC.,

P.O. Box 6767 Towson, Maryland 21285

Plaintiff,

v.

ELISABETH (BETSY) DEVOS, in her official capacity as Secretary of Education,

400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, D.C. 20202

U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION,

400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, D.C. 20202

Defendant.

Civil Action No:

COMPLAINT TO SET ASIDE A REGULATION AND FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF

The Council of Parent Attorneys and Advocates, Inc. (COPAA) brings this action against the United States Secretary of Education, Elisabeth (Betsy) DeVos ("Secretary DeVos"), and the United States Department of Education (the "Department"), seeking an order to set aside an interim final rule that threatens to prevent the distribution of funds for K–12 public schools to respond to the global coronavirus pandemic as provided by Congress, a declaration that the rule is invalid, and an injunction against its enforcement.

INTRODUCTION

1. The ongoing pandemic of COVID-19 infections has wreaked havoc on our nation's public schools. Beginning in March 2020, public schools in most states were required to close

and to attempt to educate their students using technology for remote instruction in order to protect the health and safety of students and staff and to control against the spread of infection. Many public school districts across the country have announced that all instruction will be conducted remotely when the next school year begins, and for the large majority of public schools, at least a portion of instruction will be conducted remotely.

- 2. Coping with the pandemic has imposed and will continue to impose extraordinary expenses for remote learning technology, increased staffing needs, and other additions to the costs for which the schools had budgeted. Millions of American children, particularly children in low-income households, are at an academic disadvantage because they do not have sufficient internet access or a computer at home. At the same time, the pandemic has caused businesses to close, at least temporarily, and economic activity to slow. All states are collecting diminished revenues now and most have been compelled to reduce their funding to public schools.
- 3. In order to help public schools shoulder the sudden and substantial new expenses caused by this public health emergency, Congress appropriated billions of dollars to public K–12 schools in the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act" or "Act"). In addition to a separate pool of funds for which Congress made private schools eligible, *see infra* ¶¶ 27–29, the CARES Act further requires that public school districts provide "equitable services" to students enrolled in private schools by spending a proportion of their CARES Act

¹ See Alliance for Excellent Educ. et al, Students of Color Caught in the Homework Gap, at 1-2 (2020), available at https://futureready.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/07/HomeworkGap_FINAL7.22.2020.pdf; see also New Analysis Shows

Students of Color Far More Likely to Be Cut Off from Online Learning, Future Ready Schools (July 21, 2020), <a href="https://futureready.org/new-analysis-shows-students-of-color-far-more-likely-to-be-cut-off-from-online-learning-data-from-education-and-civil-rights-groups-show-that-nearly-17-million-students-nationally-fall-into-homework-g/?highlight=students%20of%20color (blog post regarding release of report).

funds on private school students. Specifically, section 18005(a) of the CARES Act requires school districts to provide equitable services to eligible private-school students and teachers "in the same manner as provided under section 1117" of Part A of Title I of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965 (ESEA), which allocates funds using a poverty-based formula based on the proportion of students from low-income backgrounds attending the private school.

- 4. On July 1, 2020, Secretary DeVos and the Department of Education issued an interim final rule entitled "Providing Equitable Services to Students and Teachers in Non-public Schools," enacting 34 C.F.R. § 76.665, published at 85 Fed. Reg. 39,479 (July 1, 2020) (the IFR or "76.665").
- 5. This IFR, if enforced, will deprive public schools of a significant amount of funding for public school students. The IFR purports to interpret section 18005(a) of the CARES Act, but introduces new requirements and restrictions on the spending of funds as between public school students and private school students that are not present in the CARES Act itself.
- 6. The IFR requires, as a default, that school districts use an enrollment-based formula in determining how much money they must spend on equitable services for private school students. The enrollment-based formula allowed by the IFR will divert more funding to private school students than would be the case if the funds were distributed under the poverty-based formula provided in section 1117 of ESEA.
- 7. The IFR permits a school district to use the poverty-based formula set forth in section 1117 only if the district complies with two requirements not present in, and contrary to, the CARES Act itself. One unlawful requirement is that the school district may *only* spend the funds for that CARES Act program on its schools that are funded under Title I of the ESEA (generally schools with higher concentrations of poverty), leaving its non-Title I schools with nothing.

Another unlawful requirement of the IFR is that CARES Act funding distributed in the same manner as under section 1117 of ESEA must conform to "supplement not supplant" restrictions that are present in a *different* section of the ESEA, and that Congress did not impose on CARES Act funding. These restrictions are unlawful and appear designed as an incentive to school districts to allocate funds using an enrollment-based formula.

- 8. The IFR violates the Administrative Procedure Act. Congress did not authorize the Department to engage in rule-making on this subject under the CARES Act. Furthermore, the IFR is contrary to law, contradicting the clear and unambiguous language of section 18005(a) of the CARES Act. Moreover, the IFR imposes restrictions and conditions on CARES Act funding to K–12 public schools that are arbitrary and unreasonable.
- 9. These unlawful restrictions will result in reduced funding available for educational services to millions of public school children. This includes large numbers of students with disabilities, a population that Congress specifically intended the CARES Act funds to benefit. Plaintiff COPAA seeks to ensure that all students with disabilities receive the educational services and support they need, and its membership includes hundreds of parents whose children attend public schools. Many COPAA members are parents of children enrolled in either schools that would be excluded entirely from receiving CARES Act funding under the IFR or schools for which it is highly probable that the amount of funding would be reduced under the IFR.
- 10. During this time of crisis for America and the children of COPAA's members attending public school, the Court should declare the IFR to be contrary to law and arbitrary and capricious, and therefore strike it down and set it aside.

PARTIES

- 11. Plaintiff COPAA is a not-for-profit organization whose members are parents of children with disabilities, their attorneys, and their advocates. COPAA's mission is to protect and enforce the legal and civil rights of students with disabilities and their families.
- 12. COPAA has more than 2,600 members located across the United States. Membership is open to all persons who are interested in furthering COPAA's purposes, and each member pays annual dues. Persons who work for, or contract with, state, regional, or local education agencies (e.g., state departments of education or school districts) are presumptively not permitted to join COPAA, but a super-majority of the board of directors may permit such persons to join as members after an interview and other varied requirements. The board of directors is composed exclusively of COPAA members.
- 13. More than 500 of COPAA's current members joined as parent members. This type of membership is open to persons who have a child with a disability or who are a family member of a child with a disability. These COPAA parent members are located in 49 states and the District of Columbia.
- 14. In its daily operations, COPAA accomplishes its mission by, among other things: providing resources, training, and information to parents, advocates, and attorneys to assist them in obtaining the equal educational opportunity to which children with disabilities are entitled under the federal civil rights laws; educating members of the public and policy makers, including federal agencies, about the educational experiences of children with disabilities and their families; and educating COPAA members about developments in the federal civil rights laws and policies affecting education of children with disabilities.

- 15. COPAA maintains a resource library available to members only. It also creates and makes available webinars for its members and others. COPAA periodically submits comments on federal agencies' proposed rules and regulations to inform agencies about the impact of such proposals on the lives and rights of children with disabilities and their families. COPAA also engages in litigation where necessary in response to denials and violations of rights under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) and other legal protections of children with disabilities.
- 16. Defendants are the U.S. Department of Education and current U.S. Secretary of Education Elisabeth (Betsy) DeVos. Secretary DeVos is sued in her official capacity.
- 17. As the Secretary of Education, Secretary DeVos is responsible for the administration of the Department in accordance with law, including adoption of rules and regulations pursuant to the rule-making procedures set out in the Administrative Procedure Act.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

- 18. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331 because it arises under federal law, namely the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A) & (2)(C). This Court also has jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1346(a)(2) because a department of the United States is a defendant. Declaratory and injunctive relief are available pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2201–2202.
- 19. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e)(1) because plaintiff COPAA maintains its principal place of business in Towson, Maryland, where its headquarters are located.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The CARES Act

- 20. On March 27, 2020, the President signed the CARES Act into law. *See* Pub. L. No. 116-136, 134 Stat. 281. The purpose of the Act was to address economic hardships of the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States.
- 21. In the part of the CARES Act regarding the U.S. Department of Education, Congress appropriated \$30,750,000,000 for the "Education Stabilization Fund," to remain available through September 30, 2021 "to prevent, prepare for, and respond to coronavirus," including aiding schools by distributing additional federal funding. *Id*.
- 22. Sections 18002 and 18003 of the CARES Act provide funding for public primary and secondary school authorities, referred to formally as "Local Educational Agencies" or "LEAs," or informally as school districts.
- 23. Section 18002 created the "Governor's Emergency Education Relief Fund" (the GEER fund). Congress directed the Secretary of Education to make Emergency Education Relief grants to Governors. One of the three permitted uses of the GEER funding by the Governor, according to section 18002(c)(1), is to:

provide emergency support through grants to local educational agencies that the State educational agency deems have been most significantly impacted by coronavirus to support the ability of such local educational agencies to continue to provide educational services to their students and to support the on-going functionality of the local educational agency[.]

7

² "Local Education Agency" includes only public authorities that control or serve public primary and secondary schools. *See* section 18007(8) of the CARES Act (incorporating section 8101(30)(a) of the ESEA, 20 U.S.C. § 7801(30)(a)).

- 24. Section 18003 created the "Elementary and Secondary Emergency Relief Fund" (the ESSER fund). Section 18003(a) directs the secretary to make grants to each state educational agency that submits an approved application. Section 18003(d) provides 12 categories of permitted uses of the ESSER funds by school districts.
- 25. GEER funding comprises approximately \$3 billion, some of which is for higher education, and ESSER funding comprises approximately \$13 billion; the maximum amount that can be provided to individual primary and secondary public schools under these sections of the CARES Act is \$16 billion. If school districts used a poverty-based formula to determine how much of that \$16 billion to allocate to equitable services for private school students, school districts would spend \$140 million on equitable services.
- 26. By contrast, if school districts used the enrollment-based formula favored by the IFR, school districts would spend over ten times as much on equitable services for private school students: \$1,623 million. Indeed, while seeking to downplay its effect, the IFR itself could only assert that something "less than 10% of the CARES Act funding nationwide"—*i.e.*, less than \$1.6 billion—"would be provided for equitable services for non-public school students and teachers" under the IFR's preferred methodology. 85 Fed. Reg. at 39,483 n.5. By this measure, the amount of *additional* money that the IFR would divert from public schools to private school students compared to what Congress provided by its reference to section 1117 could be as much as \$1.5 billion.
- 27. In other portions of the CARES Act, Congress made some federal funding available to non-public schools and not to public schools. For example, private schools that operate as nonprofit organizations or small businesses with 500 or fewer employees—but not public schools other than nonprofit public charter schools—are eligible to participate in the Paycheck

Protection Program (PPP). See CARES Act, § 1102(a)(1)(D)(i). Congress has appropriated \$659 billion to the PPP.³ If certain conditions are met, the PPP loans will be forgiven.⁴

28. Billions of dollars in CARES Act money has already been paid to private entities classified as primary and secondary schools. According to a private analysis of PPP data released by the Small Business Administration on PPP loans of \$150,000 or greater, the total amount of funds given to 5,691 private schools is somewhere between \$2.67 billion and \$6.47 billion.⁵ Many other private schools received loans of less than \$150,000. These federal PPP funds are not available to public schools other than charter schools formed as nonprofit organizations.

29. Combined with the PPP funds, under the enrollment-based formula, private school students will end up supported by CARES Act funds totaling at least \$4.3 billion (and possibly as much as \$8.1 billion), despite the fact that they comprise no more than 10% of the K–12 students in the United States. Meanwhile, under the same enrollment-based formula, the 90% of the K–12 students in the United States who attend public school will end up with CARES Act

³ See The CARES Act Provides Assistance to Small Businesses, U.S. Dep't of Treas., https://home.treasury.gov/policy-issues/cares/assistance-for-small-businesses (last visited Aug. 6, 2020).

⁴ See Paycheck Protection Program, U.S. Small Bus. Admin., https://www.sba.gov/funding-programs/loans/coronavirus-relief-options/paycheck-protection-program#section-header-5 (last visited Aug. 6, 2020).

⁵ Samantha Sokol et al., Americans United for Separation of Church and State, *The Paycheck Protection Program Has Provided Billions in Federal Funds to Private and Religious Schools*, at 1-2 (2020), https://www.au.org/sites/default/files/2020-07/PPP%20COVID%20Relief%20Money%20for%20Private%20Schools%207.29.20_0.pdf; see also AU's New Report Details How Billions in Pandemic Relief Was Diverted to Private Schools, Americans United for Separation of Church and State: Wall of Separation Blog (July 30, 2020), https://www.au.org/blogs/pandemic-aid-private-schools (blog post regarding release of report).

funds totaling, at most, \$14.4 billion. There is no reason to believe that Congress, unlike the Department, intended such a substantial disparity in support for public school students.

Title I of the ESEA

- 30. When enacting the CARES Act, Congress repeatedly chose to incorporate certain standards and concepts from Title I of the ESEA of 1965 ("Title I"), codified as amended at 20 U.S.C. §§ 6311–6339. Four provisions relating to funding for K–12 schools under the CARES Act (in section 18002, two subsections of 18003, and section 18005) refer to components of the statutory formulas in Part A of Title I for allocating funds to assist primary and elementary schools. In addition, section 18005 references section 1117 of Title I, 20 U.S.C. § 6320.
- 31. Passed as part of President Lyndon Johnson's War on Poverty, the ESEA provides federal funding for primary and secondary education, emphasizing equal access to education and aiming to narrow the achievement gaps between students. The law has been amended several times, including in 2015. *See* Every Student Succeeds Act, Pub. L. No. 114-95, 129 Stat. 1802 (2015). Title I of the ESEA is entitled "Improving the Academic Achievement of the Disadvantaged."
- 32. Although Title I funds are allotted to states, school districts, and schools using four different statutory formulas, the IFR correctly notes that all four formulas try, in "varying degrees," to direct the funds to schools and school districts with "concentrations of poverty." 85 Fed. Reg. at 39,482 n.4. Thus, the statutory formulas "direct funds to LEAs based primarily on the number of formula children," and "97 percent" of statutorily defined formula children "are children ages 5 through 17 in poverty in public and nonpublic schools as determined annually by the Census Bureau." *Id.* Thus, high numbers or high percentages of children from low-income families entitle school districts to more Title I funds. Once received, however, schools are not

limited to spending the Title I funds for services only on children in poverty; children are eligible for Title I services based on a host of factors related to academic need or risk of academic failure. See 20 U.S.C. § 6315(c)(1)(B) (eligible children include those who are failing or at risk of failing to meet certain academic standards); § 6315(c)(2) (in addition to children who are "economically disadvantaged," eligible children include children with disabilities, migrant children, English learners, Head Start and preschool children, neglected or delinquent children, and homeless children).

- 33. Section 18002(b)(2) refers to section 1124(c) of Title I, 20 U.S.C. § 6333(c), as the basis for allocating 40 percent of the GEER funds to states. Section 1124(c) describes the children to be counted for purposes of distributing funds under Title I, including "children aged 5 to 17" who are "from families below the poverty level," children "in institutions for neglected and delinquent children . . . or being supported in foster homes with public funds," and children "from families above the poverty level" but who receive payments under the Social Security Act, Title IV, Part A (Block Grants to States for Temporary Assistance for Needy Families). 20 U.S.C. § 6333(c)(1)(A)-(C), (c)(4)(A). But nothing in the CARES Act restricts the *use* of the GEER funds to assistance to low-income or Title I-eligible children. Section 18002(c)(1) explicitly describes uses of the GEER funds in terms that do not limit their use to assisting Title I-eligible children.
- 34. Sections 18003(b) and (c) require ESSER funds to be allocated to states and LEAs, respectively, according to the same proportions received under Title I in the most recent fiscal year. However, as with the GEER funds, Congress did not limit the *use* of ESSER funds to assisting Title I-eligible students. To the contrary, section 18003(d) lists 12 categories of uses

permitted for ESSER funds, many of which do not restrict the uses to assisting Title I-eligible children.

Section 1117 of the ESEA and Section 18005 of the CARES Act

- 35. Under section 18005(a), LEAs are directed to "provide equitable services in the same manner as provided under section 1117 of the ESEA of 1965 to students and teachers in non-public schools, as determined in consultation with representatives of non-public schools."
- 36. Nothing in section 18005 of the CARES Act is directed to the Secretary or the Department, and nothing in the CARES Act authorizes them to instruct LEAs to disregard any of the contents of section 1117 of the ESEA or to resolve any perceived ambiguities.
- 37. Section 18005 is directed to LEAs, which are also the bodies that section 1117 of the ESEA directs to provide equitable services to private schools. Section 18005 of the CARES Act plainly tells LEAs to provide equitable services to non-public schools under the CARES Act according to the directions that they have experience in following under Title I of the ESEA.
- 38. A close reading of section 1117 confirms that it sets distinct standards for determining which private school students are eligible for equitable services from the LEA compared to establishing the amount of federal funds that the LEA must spend on equitable services. Thus, when Congress in the CARES Act directed that services for students enrolled at non-public primary and secondary schools should be provided "in the same manner as provided under section 1117 of the ESEA," Congress knew that it was invoking a provision of Title I directed to allocating federal funds based on the number of children from low-income households, and not

⁶ "Non-public school" is defined in section 18007(6) of the CARES Act with reference to "Public school," defined in subsection (7). Its meaning is the same as "private schools," the term used in section 1117 of the ESEA. "Non-public schools" and "private schools" are used interchangeably in this complaint.

to the total population of K-12 schoolchildren, and that those services would go only to eligible private school students.

- 39. With regard to eligibility for equitable services, subsections 1117(a)(1) and (a)(3) contain express language referring to the authorized purpose of the funding as for the benefit children in private schools who are eligible for Title I.
 - 40. The first "General Requirement" stated at the beginning of section 1117(a)(1) is that:

To the extent consistent with the number of eligible children identified under section 1115(c) of this title in the school district served by a local educational agency who are enrolled in private elementary schools and secondary schools, a local educational agency shall . . . (A) . . . provide such children [services that address their educational needs.]

20 U.S.C. § 6320(a)(1). Section 1115(c) of the ESEA, 20 U.S.C. § 6315(c), provides the standard for determining who are "Eligible Children" for services and benefits under Title I. In general, those children "are children identified by the school as failing, or most at risk of failing, to meet the challenging State academic standards on the basis of multiple, educationally related, objective criteria established by the local educational agency and supplemented by the school," section 1115(c)(1)(B), and the definition of eligible children also includes migrant children and homeless children, section 1115(c)(2). Thus, section 1117's general purpose is to provide services and benefits for those private primary and secondary school students who are eligible for Title I assistance.

41. The same criterion is used to define "Equity" in section 1117(a)(3). Subparagraph (A) provides: "In general. Educational services and other benefits for *such* private school children shall be equitable in comparison to services and other benefits for public school children participating under this part" 20 U.S.C. § 6320(a)(3)(A) (Emphasis added.) The word "such" is a precise way for a statute to cross-reference an antecedent definition of words. The

antecedent of "such private school children" is the phrase in section 1117(a)(1) that specifies "the number of eligible children identified under section 1115(c)." Section 1117(a)(3) defines "Equity" as based on a comparison of the services and benefits available to that same subset of private school children who are eligible for Title I with the services and benefits available to public school children that participate in Title I programs.

- 42. Subparagraph (B) of section 1117(a)(3), which states the duty of an Ombudsman, also states that the duty is "[t]o help ensure such equity for *such* private school children" (emphasis added). The antecedent reference for "such private school children" is the same: those eligible under the standards for Title I as provided in section 1115(c) of the ESEA.
- 43. At no point in these provisions does Congress ever contemplate serving all children enrolled in private schools.
- 44. For purposes of determining how much an LEA must spend on equitable services, the counting of private school students is precisely stated, twice, in subsections 1117(a)(4)(A)(i) and 1117(c)(1) as based on the number of private school children from low-income households.

 Nothing in section 1117 would allow an LEA to base the proportion of funding for equitable services to private schools on the entire population of students enrolled in private schools.
- 45. Section 1117(a)(4) of the ESEA is entitled "Expenditures." It provides in subparagraph (A)(i) that:

Expenditures . . . to *eligible* private school children shall be equal to the proportion of funds allocated to participating school attendance areas based on the number of children from low-income families who attend private schools.

20 U.S.C. § 6320(a)(4)(A)(i). (Emphasis added.) In context, "eligible" can only mean the same thing as in the preceding references to eligible children in private schools: those who satisfy the requirements in section 1115(c) for Title I funding. This states the purpose of the funding. That

purpose is not contradicted by Congress's use of "the number of children from low-income families who attend private schools" to calculate the proportion of funds to be spent for equitable services to private school children.

46. Subparagraph (B) of section 1117(a)(4) is entitled "Obligation of Funds." It states:

Funds allocated to a local educational agency for educational services and other benefits *to eligible private school children* shall be obligated in the fiscal year for which the funds are received by the agency.

20 U.S.C. § 6320(a)(4)(B). (Emphasis added.) To obligate funds for private school children who are not eligible would be contrary to section 1117(a)(4)(B), as well as to the other provisions noted above.

- 47. Subparagraph (C) of section 1117(a)(4) requires giving notice of allocations. It says that the appropriate private schools are to receive notice of the allocation of funds available for "eligible private school children." Since the same word, "eligible" is used in the preceding section, the same meaning applies: the funds are for the benefit of private school students who qualify for assistance pursuant to the criteria in section 1115(c) for participation in Title I programs.
- 48. Section 1117(c) is entitled "Allocation for Equitable Service to Private School Students." Subsection (1), "Calculation," provides:

A local educational agency shall have the final authority, consistent with the section, to calculate the number of children, ages 5 through 17, who are from low-income families and attend private schools

20 U.S.C. § 6320(c)(1). (Emphasis added.) Repeating and further specifying the basis for counting students for purposes of allocating funds, section 1117(c)(1) leaves no doubt that LEAs must apportion based on low-income students, not the total student population.

49. If it had intended LEAs to provide services based on allocations derived from the number of enrolled private school students and not just enrolled low-income private school students, Congress would have incorporated the equitable services provision in Title VIII of the ESEA. Section 8501 of the ESEA, 20 U.S.C. § 7881, is a general provision that measures the amount of money a public school has to spend on equitable services based on proportional total enrollments. *Id.*, at 8501(a)(3)(A), 20 U.S.C. § 7881(a)(3)(A). The CARES Act instead refers to section 1117 of the ESEA, which bases the allocation of funds on the number of low-income students.

The Department's Guidance and Interim Final Rule

- 50. On April 30, 2020, a month after the enactment of the CARES Act, the Department issued guidance called "Providing Equitable Services to Students and Teachers in Non-Public Schools under the CARES Act Programs" ("Equitable Services guidance"). The Department incorrectly asserted in the Equitable Services guidance that section 18005(a)'s reference to providing equitable services "in the same manner as provided under section 1117 of the ESEA" is ambiguous. The Department then directed LEAs to allocate funding from the CARES Act for private schools based on *total* student enrollment (i.e., an enrollment-based formula) instead of *low-income* student enrollment (i.e., a poverty-based formula) as directed by Title I of the ESEA.
- 51. As the Department acknowledges in the IFR, "[a] number of States took issue with the Department's guidance with respect to using total non-public school enrollment to determine the proportional share of CARES Act funds for equitable services." 85 Fed. Reg. at 39,480. Likewise, an organization representing state education leaders across the country warned Secretary DeVos that the effect of the guidance would be that "non-public schools would receive an inequitable amount of funding, much more federal support than Congress intended, or LEAs

anticipated based upon the CARES statute." In addition, Senator Lamar Alexander, who in 2015 was the lead sponsor of the Every Student Succeeds Act, Pub. L. No. 114-95, 129 Stat. 1802, which formulated the current wording of section 1117, also objected to the Department's guidance, saying that "[m]y sense was that the money should have been distributed in the same way we distribute Title I money I think that's what most of Congress was expecting."

- 52. The Department issued the IFR in an effort to overcome the positions of states and others declining to follow the nonbinding Equitable Services guidance.
- 53. On July 1, 2020, the Department issued its interim final rule creating a new regulation, 34 C.F.R. § 76.665, entitled "Providing equitable services to students and teachers in non-public schools." The IFR creates two options for determining the amount of funding to non-public schools, one of which maintains a poverty-based allocation but imposes illegal conditions on it, and one of which imposes an enrollment-based allocation method that contradicts the CARES Act and its adoption of the standards of section 1117 of the ESEA.
 - 54. Section 76.665(b)(2) of the IFR states:
 - (2) Consultation must occur in accordance with section 1117(b) of the ESEA, except to the extent inconsistent with the CARES Act and this section, such as section 1117(b)(1)(E) and (J)(ii).

(Emphasis added.) This section directly and explicitly conflicts with the CARES Act's requirement to provide services in the same manner as in ESEA section 1117. Section

⁷ Letter from Carissa Moffat Miller, Exec. Dir., Council of Chief State Sch. Officers, to Betsy D. DeVos, Sec'y, U.S. Dep't of Educ., at 2 (May 5, 2020), https://ccsso.org/sites/default/files/2020-05/DeVosESLetter050520.pdf.

⁸ Nicole Gaudiano, *Alexander, DeVos split on stimulus support for private school kids*, Politico (May 22, 2020, 10:00 am EDT), https://www.politico.com/newsletters/morning-education/2020/05/22/alexander-devos-split-on-stimulus-support-for-private-school-kids-787837.

1117(b)(1)(E) states that equitable services are "to be provided to the eligible private school children" and section 1117(b)(1)(J)(ii) refers to using the "proportion of funds allocated under subsection (a)(4)(A) based on the number of children from low-income families who attend private schools." The IFR is contrary to law in purporting to deny effect to provisions of section 1117 that Congress expressly required to be used.

- 55. Section 76.665(c) of the IFR, entitled "Determining proportional share" begins as follows:
 - (1) To determine the proportional share of funds for equitable services to students and teachers in non-public elementary and secondary schools for each CARES Act program, an LEA must use one of the following measures. The LEA need not use the same measure for each CARES Act program.

The CARES Act adopted "the same manner as provided under section 1117 of the ESEA" as the means for providing equitable services to students in non-public schools, and section 1117 contains one and only one method for determining the proportion of funding to be used for private schools. The IFR had no legal basis for creating two options for how LEAs determine the proportion of CARES Act funding.

- 56. The enrollment-based formula, which the IFR lists second, is the default. It is the only one that is available to all LEAs; it is the option that gives LEAs the maximum flexibility on where to spend the CARES Act funds within the district; and it avoids triggering a "supplement not supplant" requirement. But it offers the maximum flexibility on use of the funds at a price of the amount that must be spent on private school students.
- 57. Section 76.665(c)(1)(i) allows an LEA to "calculate the proportional share in accordance with paragraph (c)(1)(ii) of this section," *i.e.* the enrollment-based formula, even if it also meets the criteria for using a poverty-based formula. Section 76.665(c)(1)(ii), in turn, states:

- (ii) Any other LEA must calculate the proportional share based on enrollment in participating non-public elementary and secondary schools in the LEA compared to the total enrollment in both public and participating non-public elementary and secondary schools in the LEA.
- 58. If LEAs want to use a poverty-based formula, as they do under section 1117 of the ESEA, they must give up their right to use the CARES Act funds for non-Title I schools—which the CARES Act expressly permits—and subject themselves to a "supplement not supplant" requirement. Thus, the IFR denies LEAs the unfettered ability to determine the proportion of GEER or ESSER funding for private schools in the only way that the CARES Act permits.
- 59. The opening paragraph of Section 76.665(c)(1)(i) imposes restrictions on LEAs receiving CARES Act funds that wish to use a poverty-based formula rather than an enrollment-based formula authorized by paragraph (c)(1)(ii):
 - (i) An LEA using *all* its funds under a CARES Act program to serve *only* students and teachers in public schools participating under Title I, Part A of the ESEA may calculate the proportional share in accordance with paragraph (c)(1)(ii) of this section

Nothing in the CARES Act says, suggests, or delegates authority to the Department to require that LEAs receiving CARES Act funds may use them only for students in public schools participating in Title I, Part A of the ESEA. To the contrary, the CARES Act states exactly the contrary.

- 60. Section 76.665(c)(1)(i)(A) states that an LEA subject to the conditions in 76.665(c)(1) may use the following option for allocating equitable services:
 - (A) The proportional share of Title I, Part A funds it calculated under section 1117(a)(4)(A) of the ESEA for the 2019-2020 school year[.]

Standing alone, this is a correct interpretation of Section 18005 of the CARES Act. But it is surrounded by unlawful provisions.

- 61. Section 76.665(c)(1)(i)(B) states, as an alternative for an LEA subject to the conditions in 76.665(c)(1) that an LEA may allocate equitable services based on:
 - (B) The number of children, ages 5 through 17, who attend each non-public school in the LEA that will participate under a CARES Act program and are from low-income families compared to the total number of children, ages 5 through 17, who are from low-income families in both Title I schools and participating non-public elementary and secondary schools in the LEA.

This departs from the poverty-based formula that Congress adopted by reference to ESEA section 1117 in that the denominator of the proportionality factor excludes public school children from low-income families unless they attend Title I schools. By reducing the denominator of the fraction, this allocation method will result in a higher proportion of funds being directed to private schools than if LEAs follow section 1117's proportionality standard as Congress directed.

- 62. Under either poverty-based formula, the IFR imposes a second condition designed to dissuade its use. Section 76.665(c)(3) states:
 - (3) An LEA using funds from a CARES Act program in Title I schools under paragraph (c)(1)(i) of this section must comply with the supplement not supplant requirement in section 1118(b) of the ESEA, which would prohibit the LEA from allocating CARES Act funds to Title I schools and then redirecting State or local funds to non-Title I schools, among other things.

Through this language in the IFR, Defendants have imposed a purported condition on LEAs' use of GEER or ESSER funds that is not stated in or authorized by anything in the CARES Act. The section of the ESEA that Congress invoked, section 1117, contains no "supplement not supplant" requirement. Congress did not make any explicit or implied reference in the CARES Act to section 1118(b) of the ESEA, which is the source of the "supplement not supplant" restrictions on Title I funds. The fact that Congress expressly permitted the use of CARES Act funds to

enable school districts to "maintain the operation of and continuity of services" and to continue to employ "existing staff" demonstrates that this omission of any reference to a "supplement not supplant" requirement was intentional. CARES Act § 18003(d)(12) (emphasis added); see also id. §18006 (requiring districts to continue to pay its employees and contractors "to the greatest extent practicable").

- 63. The Department has previously acknowledged that the CARES Act does not itself require that LEAs supplement and not supplant the CARES Act funds. In a Frequently Asked Questions document dated May 5, 2020 (six weeks prior to the IFR), the Department responded to the question, "Are ESSER funds subject to a supplanting prohibition?" with a clear "No." The Department explained, "The ESSER Fund does not contain a supplanting prohibition. As a result, ESSER funds may take the place of State or local funds for allowable activities."
- 64. Indeed, the IFR's "supplement not supplant" restriction on the uses of the GEER and ESSER funds would contradict the express descriptions of permitted uses of those funds in the CARES Act. One of the other activities that is expressly allowed as a use of ESSER funds is the provision of services under the IDEA, which is mentioned in both subsections 18003(d)(1) and (d)(8). But traditionally, according to the Department, the "supplement not supplant" provision of Title I "require[s] that a Title I school receive the State and local funds necessary to provide services required by law for children with disabilities and English learners." 10

⁹ U.S. Dep't of Educ., *Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund Frequently Asked Questions about the Elementary and Secondary School Emergency Relief Fund (ESSER Fund)*, https://oese.ed.gov/files/2020/05/ESSER-Fund-Frequently-Asked-Questions.pdf (Question 20).

¹⁰ U.S. Dep't of Educ., *Supplement Not Supplant Under Title I, Part A of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act of 1965, as Amended by the Every Student Succeeds Act* (June 2019), https://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/leg/essa/snsfinalguidance06192019.pdf.

Accordingly, in a school district that uses the poverty-based formula in ESEA section 1117, the IFR would seemingly not permit LEAs to use CARES Act money for services required by IDEA for children with disabilities. The Department's imposition of the "supplement not supplant" restriction through the IFR would preclude one of the prescribed uses of CARES Act funds.

- 65. Section 76.665(d) states in part:
 - (d) Equity. (1) Educational services and other benefits for students and teachers in non-public elementary and secondary schools must be equitable in comparison to services and other benefits for public school students and teachers participating in CARES Act programs, and must be provided in a timely manner.

This subsection purports to be based on the statutory definition of "Equity" in section 1117(a)(3) but omits anything reflecting the statute's words "*such* private school children" (emphasis added). The IFR invokes equity arguments but seeks to contradict the explanation of "Equity" in section 1117 of the ESEA.

Harmful Impact of the IFR to COPAA and Its Members

66. Public schools have incurred huge costs in responding to the COVID-19 pandemic. Some costs of responding to students' needs are greater for children from low-income families than for other children. School closures require spending on distance learning technology, and many low-income families do not have the digital devices or the internet connectivity to participate fully. Nearly 45 percent of households with children and an annual income below \$25,000 do not have adequate internet and almost 29 percent do not have a computer at home. The need to address this digital divide to ensure that all students can learn has put a financial strain on many districts.

¹¹ See Alliance for Excellent Educ. et al., supra n. 1 at 2, Table B1, and Table B3.

- 67. Many children from low-income households depend on meals served by public schools to meet basic nutritional requirements, and schools have responded by spending more on making meals available. There are many other examples of the need to spend more, including purchasing personal protective equipment, hiring cleaning companies, redesigning the layout of classrooms to allow for social distancing, adding protective shields in lobbies, and more.
- 68. Public schools also have legal obligations to students with disabilities under federal, state, and local requirements that exceed the legal obligations of private schools. For example, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act applies to public schools but not to private schools. COVID-19 has increased the cost of services to students with disabilities.
- 69. These are expenditures by LEAs—defined statutorily as *public* educational authorities—for low-income students and students with disabilities that Congress expressly provided CARES Act funding to facilitate. For example, an explicitly approved use of ESSER funds is "[p]lanning for and coordinating during long-term closures for how to provide meals to eligible students, how to provide technology for online learning to all students, [and] how to provide guidance for carrying our requirements under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (20 U.S.C. 1401 et. seq.)." CARES Act § 18003(d)(8); *see also* §§ 18003(d)(2), (4), and (10).
- 70. At the same time as pandemic-caused expenses to public schools have increased, state governments have less money with which to fund public schools. States are experiencing budget deficits because of decreased revenue and increased expenses due to the pandemic. Tax revenues are below what was budgeted before the pandemic, as COVID-19 has shrunken the economies of the states. In most if not all states, an effect of reduced state budgets and the general prohibition of deficit spending by states will be a cut in state funding for K–12

education. States have already modified or signaled they would incorporate the CARES Act funds to fill the gaps in their public education budgets created by the pandemic. As result of the IFR, these gaps will not be able to be filled by state budgets, leaving holes in school districts' budgets.

- 71. Accordingly, any loss of funding for public schools will cause students at affected schools to suffer harm. This reverberates as harm to COPAA's members, who are parents of children whose quality of education is impaired by reduced funding, and to their communities.
- 72. The IFR unlawfully restricts and reduces the amount of CARES Act funding available to provide services to public school students and their families, particularly those students enrolled in schools that are not Title I participating schools ("non-Title I schools").
 - a. 76.665(c)(3) prohibits LEAs that use the poverty-based formula of section 1117 of the ESEA, which Congress adopted in the CARES Act, from spending any CARES Act money for schools that are non-Title I schools. The IFR estimates that 25% of LEAs that are subject to the equitable services requirement (2,530 LEAs) will implement this alternative. 85 Fed. Reg. at 39,487. Students attending those non-Title I schools will lose all support from the CARES Act.
 - b. Of those 2,530 LEAs, the IFR estimates that 315 of them would calculate the poverty-based formula based on 76.665(c)(1)(i)(B). 85 Fed. Reg. at 39,487. As noted above, that subsection diverges from section 1117 of the ESEA by allowing the proportion of funding for private schools' equitable services to be computed using a denominator that excludes all the low-income students in public schools in that district that are non-Title I schools. See supra ¶ 61. This provision would

- divert CARES Act money from public school students to private school students in every district with any non-Title I schools.
- c. Finally, the IFR estimates that the remaining 75% of LEAs that are subject to the equitable service requirement (7,595 LEAs) will implement the enrollment-based formula. 85 Fed. Reg. at 39,487. Most private schools that receive equitable services pursuant to section 1117 are attended by a smaller percentage of students from low-income families than the percentage of such children in the public schools of the LEA. *See infra* ¶¶ 76–77. As a result, more money would go to private school students and less to public school students under the second option, 76.665(c)(1)(ii), than under 76.665(c)(1)(i).
- 73. The IFR also unlawfully narrows the permitted uses of CARES Act funding by public schools. Section 76.665(c)(3) orders LEAs that elect to distribute funds using the poverty-based allocation of section 1117 of the ESEA to comply with the "supplement not supplant" requirement in section 1118(b) of the ESEA, which imposes additional restrictions on how money can be spent. Those restrictions would prevent many uses of funds that Congress expressly permitted, including uses for students with disabilities mandated by IDEA. The restrictions would also prevent school districts from relying on CARES Act funds to take the place of state-level funding cuts.
- 74. A number of COPAA's parent members have children enrolled in non-Title I schools in school districts that will receive CARES Act funds from the ESSER fund. One such COPAA member is a parent whose children attend Prosper High School and Rock Hill High School in the Prosper Independent School District in Texas; according to the most recent publicly available data, these are both non-Title I schools in a school district with at least one Title I school.

- 75. Another COPAA parent member's children attend Bak Middle School of the Arts and Alexander W. Dreyfoos Junior School of the Arts in the Palm Beach School District in Florida; according to the most recent publicly available data, these are both non-Title I schools in a school district with at least one Title I school. There are other similarly situated members, many of whom are school district taxpayers as well as parents of children enrolled in public schools.
- 76. The Department's own National Center for Education Statistics reports that, in 2016, 18.3% of students in all public schools in grades 1 through 12 were poor and 22.2% were near-poor, as defined by the Census Bureau's poverty threshold. By comparison, only 7.6% of students in all private schools in grades 1 through 12 were poor and 13.1% were near-poor.¹²
- 77. Likewise, the Department's National Center for Education Statistics reports that 37% of all K–12 public school students received Title I services and 55.2% of all public K–12 students were approved for free or reduced price lunch. By comparison, just 4% of all private K–12 students received Title I services and 8.7% of all private K–12 students were approved for free or reduced price lunch.¹³
- 78. In each district described above in paragraphs 74–75, consistent with the national trends and on information and belief, the school district enrolls a higher percentage of students from low-income families than the percentage of low-income students attending private schools that participate in district's equitable services programs funded pursuant to section 1117 of the

¹² See U.S. Dep't of Educ., Nat'l Ctr. for Educ. Statistics, School Choice in the United States: 2019, at 68 (Table 4.1) (Sept. 2019), https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2019/2019106.pdf.

¹³ See U.S. Dep't of Educ., Nat'l Ctr. for Educ. Statistics, *Characteristics of Public and Private Elementary and Secondary Schools in the United States: Results From the 2017–18 National Teacher and Principal Survey: First Look*, at 7–8 (Table 1) (Aug. 2019), https://nces.ed.gov/pubs2019/2019140.pdf.

ESEA. In addition, on information and belief, each district identified above has low-income students that attend non-Title I schools.

- 79. Compliance with the IFR will imminently injure the COPAA parent members and their children, including those described above in paragraphs 74–75 in one of two ways. If their district elects to use the poverty-based proportionality options of 76.665(c)(1)(i), none of the CARES Act money can be used at the non-Title I school attended by their children.

 Alternatively, if their district elects to use the enrollment-based proportionality option of 76.665(c)(1)(ii), a greater amount of the CARES Act money will be diverted from serving public school students in the district, including these children of COPAA parent members, to serving private school students. All options permitted by the IFR will force the school district to provide less CARES Act funding for the education of the children of these COPAA parent members than the approach to proportionality between private and public schools that Congress required in CARES Act section 18005(a), to wit a poverty-based approach that does not preclude using CARES Act funds in non-Title I schools.
- 80. For example, the Palm Beach County School District, which has both Title I and non-Title I schools, reports that it would allocate roughly \$1.51 million in equitable services using the poverty-based proportionality option. If the district chooses this option, its non-Title I students, including the children of at least one COPAA member, will not benefit from *any* of the CARES Act funds. Under the enrollment-based proportionality option, the district reports that it would be required to allocate roughly \$2.32 million in equitable services, representing a 53 percent increase in the allocation and a loss of \$800,266 in CARES Act funds for the public schools in the district. If the district chooses this option, all public school students in the Palm Beach County School District will have fewer CARES Act funds available to their schools. While these

public school students stand to lose CARES Act funding under the IFR, on information and belief, at least eight private schools in Palm Beach County have benefited from PPP funds under the CARES Act, four of which received loans over \$1 million each.

- 81. Through the CARES Act, Congress repeatedly and explicitly encouraged use of ESSER and GEER funds to support education for students with disabilities, including the added expense for remote learning and other consequences of COVID-19. But as is described in paragraphs 9, 25–26, and 72 above, the unlawful restrictions on CARES Act funds that would result from 76.665(c)(1) and (3) will reduce funding for services to all public school students, including students with disabilities, compared to the amounts of money and uses permitted pursuant to the CARES Act that are contradicted by 76.665. At a time when students with disabilities are likely to have an increased need for academic and socio-emotional services and supports due to the disruption of their educations during the pandemic, the Department through the IFR has illegally limited the resources available to these students instead. Challenging this unlawful reduction of educational resources for students with disabilities on behalf of COPAA's parent members and their children in this action is squarely within COPAA's organizational purpose.
- 82. Absent declaratory and injunctive relief, COPAA and its members and their children will be immediately, continuously, and irreparably harmed by the IFR and Defendants' unlawful actions.

CLAIM FOR REL1EF

Violation of the Administrative Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A) & (2)(C)

83. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the foregoing paragraphs of this Complaint as though fully set forth herein.

- 84. Under the Administrative Procedure Act, a court shall "hold unlawful and set aside agency action, findings, and conclusions found to be arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, or otherwise not in accordance with law," 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(A), or "in excess of statutory jurisdiction, authority, or limitations, or short of statutory right," 5 U.S.C. § 706(2)(C).
- 85. In the CARES Act, Congress did not delegate authority to the Department to regulate on the subject of the proportion of CARES Acts funds that LEAs must or may use for services to non-public schools. Both section 18005 and its adopted provisions in ESEA section 1117 direct the conduct of LEAs, with no reference to any rule-making or other exercise of authority by the Department or the Secretary.
- 86. Based on the facts alleged above, each of the following provisions is in excess of statutory authority and not in accordance with the CARES Act: 76.665(a)(1); the portion of 76.665(b)(2) stating "except to the extent inconsistent with . . . this section, such as section 1117(b)(1)(E) and (J)(ii)"; 76.665(c)(1) (first paragraph); 76.665(c)(1)(i); 76.665(c)(1)(i)(B); 76.665(c)(1)(ii); 76.665(c)(3); and 76.665(d)(1). These unlawful sections constitute the substance of the IFR, aside from provisions that simply restate statutory subsections.
- 87. The IFR is also arbitrary and capricious. Defendants have relied on factors that Congress did not intend for them to consider; entirely failed to consider important aspects of the problem; and offered explanations that run counter to the evidence before the Department or are so implausible that they cannot be ascribed to a difference in view or the product of agency expertise.

REQUEST FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests that this Court enter an order and judgment:

- A. Setting aside Defendants' IFR in its entirety;
- B. Declaring that Defendants' IFR is illegal;
- C. Enjoining the Department of Education and its officers, employees, and agents from implementing or enforcing the IFR;
- D. Awarding Plaintiff its reasonable costs and attorney's fees incurred in the prosecution of this action; and
 - E. Awarding such other equitable and further relief as the Court deems just and proper.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this 10th day of August, 2020

Seth Galanter (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*)
Alice Y. Abrokwa (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*)

NATIONAL CENTER FOR YOUTH LAW 1313 L Street, N.W., Suite 130

Washington, D.C. 20005 Tel: (202) 868-4781

Fax: (202) 868-4788 sgalanter@youthlaw.org aabrokwa@youthlaw.org

Rachel E. M. Velcoff Hults (Pro Hac Vice Pending)

NATIONAL CENTER FOR YOUTH LAW 1212 Broadway, Suite 600

Oakland, California 94612

Tel: (510) 835-8098 Fax: (510) 835-8099 rvelcoff@youthlaw.org By: /s/ G. Brian Busey

G. Brian Busey

G. Brian Busey (D.MD. Bar Number 03918)

MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP 2000 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W.

Washington, D.C. 20006 Tel: (202) 887-1500

Fax: (202) 887-0763 gbusey@mofo.com

Jack W. Londen (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*) Jessica L. Grant (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*) MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP

425 Market Street

San Francisco, CA 94105

Tel: (415) 268-7000 Fax: (415) 268-7522 jlonden@mofo.com

Jgrant@mofo.com

Case 1:20-cv-02310 **CLWII DOOMER SHIFT** d 08/10/20 Page 1 of 3

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replace nor supplement the filing and service of pleadings or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. (SEE INSTRUCTIONS ON NEXT PAGE OF THIS FORM.)

provided by local rules of court purpose of initiating the civil do			of the United States in September 1 F THIS FORM.)	9/4, is required for the use of	the Clerk of Court for the	
I. (a) PLAINTIFFS COUNCIL OF PARENT A AND ADVOCATES, INC.			DEFENDANTS ELISABETH (BETSY) DEVOS, in her official capacity as Secretary of Education and the US Dept. of Ed.			
(b) County of Residence of (E)	of First Listed Plaintiff EXCEPT IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CA	altimore County SES)	County of Residence of First Listed Defendant (IN U.S. PLAINTIFF CASES ONLY) NOTE: IN LAND CONDEMNATION CASES, USE THE LOCATION OF THE TRACT OF LAND INVOLVED.			
(c) Attorneys (Firm Name, Attorneys (See attachme 2000 Pennsylvania Aver (202) 887-1500	ent) MORRISON & Fo	DERSTER LLP	Attorneys (If Known) 20006			
II. BASIS OF JURISDI	CTION (Place an "X" in O	ne Box Only)	III. CITIZENSHIP OF P	RINCIPAL PARTIES	(Place an "X" in One Box for Plaintif	
□ 1 U.S. Government Plaintiff	U.S. Government		(For Diversity Cases Only) P? Citizen of This State	TF DEF 1 □ 1 Incorporated or Pri of Business In T		
¥ 2 U.S. Government Defendant	☐ 4 Diversity (Indicate Citizensh	p of Parties in Item III)	Citizen of Another State	2		
			Citizen or Subject of a Foreign Country	3 🗖 3 Foreign Nation	□ 6 □ 6	
IV. NATURE OF SUIT			FORFEITURF/PENALTV	Click here for: Nature of Sui		
CONTRACT ☐ 110 Insurance ☐ 120 Marine ☐ 130 Miller Act ☐ 140 Negotiable Instrument ☐ 150 Recovery of Overpayment	PERSONAL INJURY 310 Airplane 315 Airplane Product Liability 320 Assault, Libel & Slander 330 Federal Employers' Liability 340 Marine 345 Marine Product Liability 350 Motor Vehicle Product Liability 360 Other Personal Injury 460 Other Personal Injury 441 Voting 441 Voting 442 Employment 443 Housing/ Accommodations 445 Amer. w/Disabilities - Employment 446 Amer. w/Disabilities - Other 448 Education	PERSONAL INJURY 365 Personal Injury - Product Liability 367 Health Care/ Pharmaceutical Personal Injury Product Liability 368 Asbestos Personal Injury Product Liability PERSONAL PROPER 370 Other Fraud 371 Truth in Lending 380 Other Personal Property Damage Product Liability PRISONER PETITION Habeas Corpus: 463 Alien Detainee 510 Motions to Vacate Sentence 530 General 535 Death Penalty Other: 540 Mandamus & Othe 550 Civil Rights 555 Prison Condition 560 Civil Detainee - Conditions of Confinement	of Property 21 USC 881 690 Other	BANKRUPTCY □ 422 Appeal 28 USC 158 □ 423 Withdrawal 28 USC 157 PROPERTY RIGHTS □ 820 Copyrights □ 840 Trademark SOCIAL SECURITY □ 861 HIA (1395ff) □ 862 Black Lung (923) □ 863 DIWC/DIWW (405(g)) □ 864 SSID Title XVI □ 865 RSI (405(g)) FEDERAL TAX SUITS □ 870 Taxes (U.S. Plaintiff or Defendant) □ 871 IRS—Third Party 26 USC 7609	OTHER STATUTES □ 375 False Claims Act □ 376 Qui Tam (31 USC	
Proceeding Sta VI. CAUSE OF ACTION VII. REQUESTED IN COMPLAINT:	Cite the U.S. Civil State 5 U.S.C. § 706(2) Brief description of car Seeks to set asid CHECK IF THIS UNDER RULE 2	Appellate Court tute under which you ar (A) & (2)(C) use: e a regulation as co IS A CLASS ACTION	(specify) re filing (Do not cite jurisdictional state on trary to law.	r District Litigation Transfer utes unless diversity):	Litigation - Direct File	
VIII. RELATED CASI IF ANY	E(S) (See instructions):	JUDGE		DOCKET NUMBER		
DATE August 10, 2020 FOR OFFICE USE ONLY		SIGNATURE OF ATT s/ G. Brian Busey	FORNEY OF RECORD			
	MOUNT	APPLYING IFP	IUDGE	мас ил	OGE	

Case 1:20-cv-02310-GLR Document 1-1 Filed 08/10/20 Page 2 of 3

INSTRUCTIONS FOR ATTORNEYS COMPLETING CIVIL COVER SHEET FORM JS 44

Authority For Civil Cover Sheet

The JS 44 civil cover sheet and the information contained herein neither replaces nor supplements the filings and service of pleading or other papers as required by law, except as provided by local rules of court. This form, approved by the Judicial Conference of the United States in September 1974, is required for the use of the Clerk of Court for the purpose of initiating the civil docket sheet. Consequently, a civil cover sheet is submitted to the Clerk of Court for each civil complaint filed. The attorney filing a case should complete the form as follows:

- **I.(a) Plaintiffs-Defendants.** Enter names (last, first, middle initial) of plaintiff and defendant. If the plaintiff or defendant is a government agency, use only the full name or standard abbreviations. If the plaintiff or defendant is an official within a government agency, identify first the agency and then the official, giving both name and title.
 - (b) County of Residence. For each civil case filed, except U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county where the first listed plaintiff resides at the time of filing. In U.S. plaintiff cases, enter the name of the county in which the first listed defendant resides at the time of filing. (NOTE: In land condemnation cases, the county of residence of the "defendant" is the location of the tract of land involved.)
 - (c) Attorneys. Enter the firm name, address, telephone number, and attorney of record. If there are several attorneys, list them on an attachment, noting in this section "(see attachment)".
- II. Jurisdiction. The basis of jurisdiction is set forth under Rule 8(a), F.R.Cv.P., which requires that jurisdictions be shown in pleadings. Place an "X" in one of the boxes. If there is more than one basis of jurisdiction, precedence is given in the order shown below.

 United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here.

United States plaintiff. (1) Jurisdiction based on 28 U.S.C. 1345 and 1348. Suits by agencies and officers of the United States are included here. United States defendant. (2) When the plaintiff is suing the United States, its officers or agencies, place an "X" in this box.

Federal question. (3) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1331, where jurisdiction arises under the Constitution of the United States, an amendment to the Constitution, an act of Congress or a treaty of the United States. In cases where the U.S. is a party, the U.S. plaintiff or defendant code takes precedence, and box 1 or 2 should be marked.

Diversity of citizenship. (4) This refers to suits under 28 U.S.C. 1332, where parties are citizens of different states. When Box 4 is checked, the citizenship of the different parties must be checked. (See Section III below; **NOTE: federal question actions take precedence over diversity cases.**)

- III. Residence (citizenship) of Principal Parties. This section of the JS 44 is to be completed if diversity of citizenship was indicated above. Mark this section for each principal party.
- IV. Nature of Suit. Place an "X" in the appropriate box. If there are multiple nature of suit codes associated with the case, pick the nature of suit code that is most applicable. Click here for: Nature of Suit Code Descriptions.
- V. Origin. Place an "X" in one of the seven boxes.

Original Proceedings. (1) Cases which originate in the United States district courts.

Removed from State Court. (2) Proceedings initiated in state courts may be removed to the district courts under Title 28 U.S.C., Section 1441. When the petition for removal is granted, check this box.

Remanded from Appellate Court. (3) Check this box for cases remanded to the district court for further action. Use the date of remand as the filing date.

Reinstated or Reopened. (4) Check this box for cases reinstated or reopened in the district court. Use the reopening date as the filing date. Transferred from Another District. (5) For cases transferred under Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1404(a). Do not use this for within district transfers or multidistrict litigation transfers.

Multidistrict Litigation – Transfer. (6) Check this box when a multidistrict case is transferred into the district under authority of Title 28 U.S.C. Section 1407.

Multidistrict Litigation – Direct File. (8) Check this box when a multidistrict case is filed in the same district as the Master MDL docket.

PLEASE NOTE THAT THERE IS NOT AN ORIGIN CODE 7. Origin Code 7 was used for historical records and is no longer relevant due to changes in statue.

- VI. Cause of Action. Report the civil statute directly related to the cause of action and give a brief description of the cause. **Do not cite jurisdictional statutes unless diversity.** Example: U.S. Civil Statute: 47 USC 553 Brief Description: Unauthorized reception of cable service
- VII. Requested in Complaint. Class Action. Place an "X" in this box if you are filing a class action under Rule 23, F.R.Cv.P. Demand. In this space enter the actual dollar amount being demanded or indicate other demand, such as a preliminary injunction. Jury Demand. Check the appropriate box to indicate whether or not a jury is being demanded.
- VIII. Related Cases. This section of the JS 44 is used to reference related pending cases, if any. If there are related pending cases, insert the docket numbers and the corresponding judge names for such cases.

Date and Attorney Signature. Date and sign the civil cover sheet.

Case 1:20-cv-02310-GLR Document 1-1 Filed 08/10/20 Page 3 of 3

Attachment:

Plaintiffs Attorneys

Seth Galanter (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*) Alice Y. Abrokwa (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*) NATIONAL CENTER FOR YOUTH LAW 1313 L Street N.W., Suite 130

Washington, D.C. 20005 Tel: (202) 868-4781

Fax: (202) 868-4788 sgalanter@youthlaw.org aabrokwa@youthlaw.org

Rachel E. M. Velcoff Hults (Pro Hac Vice

Pending)

NATIONAL CENTER FOR YOUTH LAW

1212 Broadway, Suite 600 Oakland, California 94612

Tel: (510) 835-8098 Fax: (510) 835-8099 rvelcoff@youthlaw.org G. Brian Busey (D.MD. Bar Number 03918) MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP 2000 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Suite 6000 Washington, D.C. 20006

Tel: (202) 887-1500 Fax: (202) 887-0763 gbusey@mofo.com

Jack W. Londen (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*) Jessica L. Grant (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*) MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP

425 Market Street

San Francisco, CA 94105 Tel: (415) 268-7000

Fax: (415) 268-7522 jlonden@mofo.com Jgrant@mofo.com

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

for the

COUNCIL OF PARENT ATTORNEYS AND ADVOCATES, INC., Plaintiff(s) v. ELISABETH (BETSY) DEVOS, in her official capacity as Secretary of Education, Defendant(s)))) ()) () () () () () () () () () ()						
SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION							
To: (Defendant's name and address) ELISABETH (BETSY) DEVOS, in her official capacity as Secretary of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, D.C. 20202 Robert K. Hur, United States Attorney In care of Civil Process Clerk, United States Attorney's Office for the District of Maryland 36 S. Charles Street 4th Fl. Baltimore, MD 21201 A lawsuit has been filed against you.	U.S. DEPARTMENT OF EDUCATION 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, D.C. 20202 William Barr, Attorney General United States Department of Justice 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20530-0001						
are the United States or a United States agency, or an office P. 12 (a)(2) or (3) — you must serve on the plaintiff an ans	ou (not counting the day you received it) — or 60 days if you er or employee of the United States described in Fed. R. Civ. wer to the attached complaint or a motion under Rule 12 of n must be served on the plaintiff or plaintiff's attorney, whose						
See attachment for plaintiff's attorneys and their addresses.							
	CLERK OF COURT						
Date:	Signature of Clerk or Deputy Clerk						

If you fail to respond, judgment by default will be entered against you for the relief demanded in the complaint. You also must file your answer or motion with the court.

Case 1:20-cv-02310-GLR Document 1-2 Filed 08/10/20 Page 2 of 4

SUMMONS IN A CIVIL ACTION ATTACHMENT

Seth Galanter (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*) Alice Y. Abrokwa (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*) NATIONAL CENTER FOR YOUTH LAW 1313 L Street N.W., Suite 130 Washington, D.C. 20005

Tel: (202) 868-4781 Fax: (202) 868-4788 sgalanter@youthlaw.org aabrokwa@youthlaw.org

Rachel E. M. Velcoff Hults (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*)
NATIONAL CENTER FOR YOUTH LAW
1212 Broadway, Suite 600
Oakland, California 94612
Tel: (510) 835-8098

Fax: (510) 835-8099 rvelcoff@youthlaw.org G. Brian Busey (D.MD. Bar Number 03918) MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP 2000 Pennsylvania Avenue, N.W., Suite 6000 Washington, D.C. 20006

Tel: (202) 887-1500 Fax: (202) 887-0763 gbusey@mofo.com

Jack W. Londen (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*) Jessica L. Grant (*Pro Hac Vice Pending*) MORRISON & FOERSTER LLP 425 Market Street San Francisco, CA 94105 Tel: (415) 268-7000 Fax: (415) 268-7522

jlonden@mofo.com Jgrant@mofo.com AO 440 (Rev. 06/12) Summons in a Civil Action (Page 2)

Civil Action No.

PROOF OF SERVICE

(This section should not be filed with the court unless required by Fed. R. Civ. P. 4 (1))

Was to		me of individual and title, if any)					
was re	ceived by me on (date)		· -				
	☐ I personally served	d the summons on the individual	dual at (place)				
			on (date)	; or			
	I left the summons at the individual's residence or usual place of abode with (name) , a person of suitable age and discretion who resides there on (date) , and mailed a copy to the individual's last known address; or						
	☐ I served the summe	ons on (name of individual)		, who is			
	designated by law to accept service of process on behalf of (name of organization)						
			on (date)	; or			
	☐ I returned the sum	mons unexecuted because		; or			
	☑ Other (specify):	See attachment					
	My fees are \$	for travel and \$	for services, for a total of \$	0.00			
	I declare under penalt	ry of perjury that this inform	ation is true.				
Date:							
			Server's signature				
			Printed name and title				
			Server's address				

Additional information regarding attempted service, etc:

Case 1:20-cv-02310-GLR Document 1-2 Filed 08/10/20 Page 4 of 4

Proof of Service Attachment

I hereby certify that on this date, I caused true and correct copies of the foregoing Complaint and Summons to be served by prepaid, certified mail upon:

United States Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, D.C. 20202

With a copy to: Reed Rubinstein, Acting General Counsel United States Department of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, D.C. 20202

Elisabeth (Betsy) DeVos, Secretary of Education 400 Maryland Avenue, SW Washington, D.C. 20202

William Barr, Attorney General United States Department of Justice 950 Pennsylvania Avenue, NW Washington, DC 20530-0001

Robert K. Hur, United States Attorney In care of Civil Process Clerk, United States Attorney's Office for the District of Maryland 36 S. Charles Street 4th Fl. Baltimore, MD 21201